Arjay Dineros

FRAMES OF JUST TRANSITION IN TRANSPORT

Master of Science in Environmental Sciences and Policy

Central European University Private University

Vienna

August 2022

Author's declaration

I, the undersigned, **Arjay Dineros**, candidate for the Master of Science degree in Environmental Sciences and Policy, declare herewith that the present thesis is exclusively my own work, based on my research and only such external information as properly credited in notes and bibliography. I declare that no unidentified and illegitimate use was made of the work of others, and no part of the thesis infringes on any person's or institution's copyright. I also declare that no part of the thesis has been submitted in this form to any other institution of higher education for an academic degree.

Vienna, 1 August 2022



Abstract

This research focuses on the comprehensive assessment of frames of just transition in the transport sector through the completion of a comprehensive, systematic review, and synthesis of literature from 2019 to 2021 and key informant interviews with experts from the transport sector. Results reveal the most common frames of just transition in transport are categorized as cross-cutting and socio-technical themes, emphasizing the interconnections among labor, policies and regulatory frameworks, technologies, and infrastructure. Reviewed documents on just transition in transport also frequently tackled it from the road and intermodal transport perspective, which calls for additional assessment and future research that centers on other modes of transportation, such as, air, maritime, and rail. This research contributes to the existing literature of just transition in transport and shaping the discourse on just transition in the sector, on how it is contextualized across all modes of transportation, and on how it relates to the overarching paradigm of just transition, such as labor, justice, socio-technical, governance, public perception and attitude, and even its cross-cutting characteristic.

Acknowledgement

To Rhea,

my mother, my inspiration, my light.

Table of Contents

Author's declaration
Abstracti
Acknowledgement
Table of Contentsiv
List of Figurev
List of Tablesvi
List of Abbreviations viii
1. Introduction1
1.1 Background of the Study1
1.2 Study Aims and Objectives
1.3 Theoretical and Analytical Framework
2. Just Transition and Transport
2.1 Overview
2.2 Thematic Concepts of Just Transition
2.2.1 Labor and workforce-oriented
2.2.2 Integrated framework for justice
2.2.3 Socio-technical transition
2.2.4 Governance strategy
2.2.5 Public perception and attitudes

	2.3 Transitioning the Transport Sector	8
3.	Research Methodology	10
	3.1 Overview	10
	3.2 Systematic Review and Analysis	10
	3.3 Key Expert Interviews	11
4.	Results and Discussion	12
	4.1 Overview	12
	4.2 Systematic Literature Review Findings	12
	4.3 Expert Interview Findings.	19
	4.3.1 Definitions of just transition	19
	4.3.2 Current engagements that relate to just transition in transport	20
	4.3.3 Key themes to consider in integrating just transition framework in transport	21
	4.3.4 Challenges and gaps in the implementation of just transition	23
	4.3.5 Significance of just transition in the transport sector	24
	4.4 Synthesis	25
5.	Conclusions	27
R	eferences	30
	Personal Communications	31

List of Figure

Figure 1 Analytic	al framework of the	e study	4
riguie I. Allaiyiic	ai framework of the	E study	4

List of Tables

Table 1. Publications included for systematic review, 2019-2021	12
Table 2. Reviewed documents by type	13
Table 3. Reviewed documents' study sites by country	13
Table 4. Reviewed documents by funding	15
Table 5. Regional groups by funding	15
Table 6. Reviewed documents by transportation mode focus	16
Table 7. Transportation mode focus by regional groups	17
Table 8. Reviewed documents by just transition thematic area	17
Table 9. Just transition thematic areas by regional groups	18
Table 10. Just transition thematic area by transportation modes	19

List of Abbreviations

CJA Climate Justice Alliance

CO₂ carbon dioxide

GHG greenhouse gas

GRULAC Latin American and Caribbean Group

GtCO₂-eq Global GHG emissions

ILO International Labour Organization

IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

OCAW Oil, Chemical and Atomic Workers Union

UN United Nations

UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate

UNRISD United Nations Research Institute for Social Development

WEOG Western European and Others Group

1. Introduction

1.1 Background of the Study

The transportation sector is seen to be a key player in the success or failure of the Paris Agreement, or at least the ambition for net-zero emissions by 2050 will be impossible without transformative changes and decarbonization mechanisms in the sector, as it remains one of the sectors with largest greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.

Just transition has been defined in several ways and from different point-of-views, but it simply captures the social implications of the transition from fossil fuel-dependent economies to a decarbonized world that also reaffirms and commits to sustainable, just, fair, and inclusive processes. Most common frames of just transition include labor and workforce-related concept, justice, socio-technical component, governance, and public perception and attitudes. This research aims to capture these frames of just transition particularly in the transport sector.

Primarily, this research aims to identify the frames of just transition in the transport sector through the completion of a comprehensive, systematic review, and synthesis of existing literature and key informant interviews with experts from the transport sector. While this research is limited in a three-year assessment of literature and documents and interviews with experts from the sector, it accomplished its aims to contributing in the ongoing and increasing discourse on just transition integration in transport.

This research has five major sections: (1) the first chapter introduces the main research question, the specific target objectives, and the theoretical and analytical framework; (2) the second chapter identifies and discusses the literature on just transition, state of transport and the sector's need to decarbonize; (3) the third chapter explains the research design implemented for the study, (4) the fourth chapter discusses the findings for the systematic literature review

and transport expert interviews, and (5) the fifth chapter presents the conclusions of the research.

1.2 Study Aims and Objectives

The research focuses on the comprehensive assessment of the integration of just transition framework in the transport sector by implementing a two-pronged strategy that includes a completion of a systematic review and synthesis of existing literature from 2019 to 2021 and key informant interviews with experts from the transport sector. The specific question it targets to answer is, "What are the frames of just transition in the transport sector?"

The primary objectives include:

- (a) To complete a systematic review and analysis of literature on just transition in the transport sector from 2019 to 2021;
- (b) To identify and discuss frames of just transition in the transport sector in terms of its regional location, modes of transportation, its thematic areas, which includes labor-oriented concept, integrated framework for justice, socio-technical, governance, public perception and attitudes, and cross-cutting characteristics,
- (c) To identify and discuss definition of just transition as used in the sector and the engagements and projects that relate to the thematic areas of just transition;
- (d) To identify the challenges in and significance of the integration of just transition in the transport sector;
- (e) To propose recommendations on the need for clarification of just transition conceptualization and framework for the transport sector, the need for comprehensive discourse on just transition thematic areas, and the need to contextualize just transition across all modes of transportation.

1.3 Theoretical and Analytical Framework

This research uses frame alignment as a theoretical framework, following previous studies' utilizing framing in the context of climate change, communication, politics, social movements, and environment (McEvoy, Fünfgeld, and Bosomworth 2013; Cha and Pastor 2022; Benford and Snow 2000; Feste 2011; Supran and Oreskes 2021).

As argued by Chong and Druckman (2007) the premise of framing as a theory is that issues can be viewed from multiple perspectives and have implications for multiple values or considerations. They then defined framing as "the process by which people develop a particular conceptualization of an issue or reorient their thinking about an issue" (Chong and Druckman 2007, 104).

Frame, however, is a central organizing idea for making sense of relevant events and suggesting what is at issue as it provides interpretive cues for facts and is composed of key concepts, metaphors, images, and symbols to structure transmission of meaning, as well as it heightens the saliency of some aspects of reality over others (Feste 2011, 15).

For this study, frame analysis is conducted and completed to reveal the common frames of just transition in the transport sector. To implement this, the following analytical framework was implemented (see Figure 1). It follows a two-pronged strategy that includes assessment of both quantitative and qualitative dimensions. The quantitative assessment includes the systematic review of all documents about just transition in transport sector, with a particular focus on the year of publication (2019-2021), document type, study site, regional location, funding, focus transportation modes, and just transition thematic areas (i.e., labor-oriented concept, integrated framework for justice, socio-technical, governance, public perception and attitudes, and crosscutting characteristics). The second-level assessment includes analysis based on informants' responses on the definition of just transition, current transport engagements that relate to just

transition, key thematic areas to consider in integrating just transition framework in transport, and challenges in and significance of just transition in transport.

Findings from these two assessments are used to identify key frames of just transition in transport in terms of operational definition, current engagements, thematic areas and modes of transportation, and gaps and its role in transition to decarbonized world.

Figure 1. Analytical framework of the study

Quantitative Assessment

Documents about just transition in transport sector as categorized based on:

Year of publication (2019-2021), document type, study site, regional groups, funding, focus transportation modes, and just transition thematic areas (i.e., labor-oriented concept, integrated framework for justice, socio-technical, governance, public perception and attitudes, and cross-cutting characteristics)

Qualitative Assessment

Conceptualization and contextualization of the following based on informants' responses:

Definition of just transition, current transport engagements that relate to just transition, key thematic areas to consider in integrating just transition framework in transport, challenges in and significance of just transition in transport

Just transition frames in the transport sector

2. Just Transition and Transport

2.1 Overview

Just transition has been defined and conceptualized in different ways by different organizations and authors. The International Labour Organization (ILO) (2015, 4-7) stated a just transition must be "well-managed and contribute to the goals of decent work for all, social inclusion, and the eradication of poverty" and must also address key policy areas related to environmental, economic, and social sustainability, such as macroeconomic and growth policies, industrial and sectoral policies, enterprise policies, skills development, occupational safety and health, social protection, active labor market policies, rights, and social dialogue and tripartism.

Other definitions focus on the process of just transition, such as the Climate Justice Alliance (CJA) and United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD). CJA defines just transition as "a vision-led, unifying and place-based set of principles, processes and practices that build economic and political power to shift from an extractive economy to a regenerative economy" (CJA 2016), while the UNRISD describes it as the "fair transition from a fossil-based economy to a low-carbon or decarbonized world" (UNRISD 2018, 11).

In 2018, Robins, Brunsting, and Wood (2018, 6-7) describes just transition as a "global agenda for industrialized, emerging, and developing economies that addresses both decarbonization and resilience and emphasizes the need to anticipate the social implications of the shift to a low-carbon economy and the increasing physical impacts of climate change."

This study combines the preceding conceptualizations to describe just transition as a set of principles, process and/or practices of a fair, inclusive transition from fossil fuel-dependent economies to a decarbonized world.

Meanwhile, according to reports, just transition originated in the United States during the 1970s as a way to reconcile social, labor, and environmental concerns. The term just transition was introduced in one presentation and later spread within the Oil, Chemical and Atomic Workers Union (OCAW), other unions, and union allies in the U.S. Significant precursor to this phase was the proposal of the *Superfund for Workers*, a program of action developed by unionists and activists in response to the rising jobs versus environment discourse (UNRISD 2018, 6-7).

The coordinated effort to mainstream just transition continued for the next decade as international climate negotiations also continued to disregard the social and employment impacts of policies that tackle and address climate change. The goal of a just transition, however, was incorporated into the negotiating text for the Copenhagen Summit in 2009:

"Mechanisms should be developed to allow for mitigating the impact of the response measures on productive workforces, promoting a gradual and just transition in the most affected economic sectors and contributing to building new capacities for both production- and service-related jobs" (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) 2009, 119).

After a few years, just transition was also incorporated into the preamble of the Paris Agreement, which was adopted in December 2015:

"The Parties to this Agreement taking into account the imperatives of a just transition of the workforce and the creation of decent work and quality jobs in accordance with nationally defined development priorities" (United Nations 2015, 2).

2.2 Thematic Concepts of Just Transition

In their brief but comprehensive review of the literature and research agenda on just transition, Wang and Lo (2021) identified five themes: just transition as a labor-oriented concept, as an integrated framework for justice, as a theory of socio-technical transition, as a governance strategy, and as public perception.

2.2.1 Labor and workforce-oriented

This thematic area describes how just transition is a labor-oriented concept as it captures how jobs, the workers, communities, different sectors, and stakeholders will be affected in transition away from an extractive economy to regenerative one (Wang and Lo 2021, 2-3). Policies and mechanisms at the national and local levels play a significant role in ensuring that the transition is fair to all stakeholders and sectors to be affected directly and indirectly. In the ILO (2015, 12) guidelines, it is proposed that accompanying policies must be formulated through social protection (e.g., unemployment insurance and benefits, skills training and upgrading, workforce redeployment and other appropriate measures) "to support enterprises and workers in sectors negatively impacted by the transition to sustainable development."

2.2.2 Integrated framework for justice

This thematic area describes how just transition is linked with other established concepts in the justice-related literature, such as environmental, climate, and energy justice, which emphasizes distributive and procedural justice and that the transition must be just and equal in its effects and implementation (Wang and Lo 2021, 3-5).

2.2.3 Socio-technical transition

This thematic area describes just transition as a theory of socio-technical transitions, which capture structural system changes that involve long-term and complex reconfigurations of

technologies, policies, infrastructure, scientific knowledge, and social and cultural practices (Wang and Lo 2021, 5-6).

2.2.4 Governance strategy

This thematic area describes how just transition is viewed as governance strategies and is shaped by political context (Wang and Lo 2021, 6-7). In 2021, Huang and Liu (2021, 4) defined transition governance as "a multi-dimensional, multi-level, multi-actor and multi-phase governing process with the purpose of facilitating systemic transformations of socio-technical regimes towards sustainability."

2.2.5 Public perception and attitudes

This thematic area describes just transition from the perspective of public perception, acceptance, and stakeholders' attitudes toward energy transition. According to previous studies about attitudes towards energy transition and how fossil fuel industry stakeholders adapt to energy transition efforts, people and communities' attitudes towards energy transitions are influenced by several factors, including unemployment, environmental sensitivity, and an ingrained connection to the fossil fuel industry (Wang and Lo 2021, 7).

2.3 Transitioning the Transport Sector

The transport sector is one of the largest emitting sectors with direct GHG emissions of 8.7 GtCO₂-eq and accounted for 23 percent of global energy-related CO₂ emissions (IPCC 2022, TS-67). Seventy percent of the direct transport emissions came from road vehicles, one percent from rail, 11 percent from shipping, and 12 percent from aviation (IPCC 2022, TS-67).

There is no scenario for achieving the ambition of net-zero by 2050 without the transformative changes and decarbonizing the transport sector. Such also threatens the Paris Agreement target to keep global average temperature rise "to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and

pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels" (United Nations 2015, 3). This emphasizes the importance of just, fair, and inclusive transition to a sustainable, low-carbon world, and making sure that key themes of just transition and their principles will be integrated and implemented in climate actions and transition pathways in the transport sector.

Meanwhile, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) identified some focus area that will contribute in tackling and addressing climate mitigation goals in the transport sector, such as (a) "the need for demand management solutions combined with new technologies"; (b) "changes in urban form, behavior programs, the circular economy, the shared economy, and digitalization trends"; (c) "fuel and technology shifts"; (d) "the need to plan for the significant expansion of low-carbon energy infrastructure, including low-carbon power generation and hydrogen production, to support emissions reductions in the transport sector"; and (e) "legislations at all levels of government that support transport plans, vehicle and fuel efficiency standards, research and development, and large-scale investments in low-carbon transport infrastructure" (IPCC 2022, TS-67-69).

3. Research Methodology

3.1 Overview

The following sections identify and disucss the research design for the systematic review and analysis, focus thematic areas to capture just transition in transport, and interview process and topic coverage.

3.2 Systematic Review and Analysis

To implement the systematic comprehensive review and analysis of documents related to just transition in transport, three main steps are identified and completed. The first phase includes the search, identification, and collection of documents from 2019 to 2021 from Scopus, "the largest abstract and citation database of peer-reviewed literature and contains over 22,000 titles from more than 5,000 publishers around the world" (Elsevier 2014, 1). During the construction of the queries, the strings were searched only within index terms and metadata "titles, abstracts, and keywords" in the Scopus. The search terms for the two concepts were linked with the Boolean operator "AND", while the Boolean operator "OR" was used to link possible terms. "TITLE-ABS-KEY ("sustainable transportation" OR "sustainable transport" OR "transport system" OR "low carbon transport" OR "micromobility" OR "bus rapid transist" OR "BRT" OR "public transportation" OR "public transport" OR "ebuses" OR "cycling" OR "biking" "walking" AND "just transition" OR "justice" OR "environmental justice" OR "social inclusion" OR "social equity" OR "equality" OR "fairness" OR "equity" OR "systems change" OR "top-down transition"). This phase resulted in 1,310 documents.

The second phase includes the screening and eligibility check. This stage includes removal of documents duplicates and assessment of eligibility for inclusion in the systematic review and analysis. From 1,310 document, only 74 documents from Scopus passed the eligibility check and successfully included in the data review and analysis.

The third phase includes the review and analysis of frames of just transition in the transport sector based on the 74 documents from Scopus from 2019 to 2021 and using the following categorizations: document type, study site, regional groups, funding, focus transportation modes, and just transition thematic areas, such as labor-oriented concept, integrated framework for justice, socio-technical, governance, public perception and attitudes, and cross-cutting characteristics. For the definition of each thematic area, kindly refer to the second chapter. The sixth theme, however, are added by the researcher to capture and describe documents that focus on the multiple thematic areas or the combination of such.

3.3 Key Expert Interviews

Two experts from the transport sector are invited for online interview to discuss the definition of just transition, their current transport engagements that relate to just transition, key thematic areas to consider in integrating just transition framework in the transport sector, the challenges in and significance of just transition in transport. Both informants, however, chose to remain anonymous.

4. Results and Discussion

4.1 Overview

This chapter identifies and discusses the main findings from the systematic review of literature and key expert interviews, focusing on the number of reviewed documents, study sites and their regional location, funding availability, transportation modes, and just transition thematic areas. The definition of just transition from the sector, current engagements in relation to just transition, alignment strategies and focus areas, and challenges and significance of just transition in the transport sector will also be discussed.

4.2 Systematic Literature Review Findings

Tables 1 and 2 identify the number of reviewed documents from 2019 to 2021 (74 documents or n = 74). The most frequent type of document is article (71.62 percent), followed by conference paper (13.51 percent), book chapter (9.46 percent), and review pieces (5.41 percent). The data reveal that most content related to just transition in transport is original research or opinion and recently published (Elsevier 2020, 11).

Table 1. Publications included for systematic review, 2019-2021

Year of publication	Frequency	Percentage
2019	17	22.97
2020	23	31.08
2021	34	45.95

Note: n means sample size; n = 74

Table 2. Reviewed documents by type

Document type	Frequency	Percentage
Article	53	71.62
Conference paper	10	13.51
Book chapter	7	9.46
Review	4	5.41

Table 3 lists the focus study sites or countries of the reviewed documents. Documents focusing on multi-country case studies are the most common ones (21.62 percent), followed by documents with no identified or specific location (13.51 percent). United Kingdom is also a frequent study site focus for documents on just transition in the transport sector (12.16 percent), followed by Sweden (5.41 percent), Germany (4.05 percent), and Norway (4.05 percent), highlighting that quarter of the documents reviewed is from developed economies.

Table 3. Reviewed documents' study sites by country

Country	Frequency	Percentage
Multi-country	16	21.62
Location not identified	10	13.51
United Kingdom	9	12.16
Sweden	4	5.41
Germany	3	4.05
Norway	3	4.05
Philippines	2	2.70
Colombia	2	2.70
Russia	2	2.70
Australia	2	2.70
Austria	2	2.70

Spain	2	2.70
India	2	2.70
Italy	2	2.70
Egypt	1	1.35
Thailand	1	1.35
Canada	1	1.35
Ireland	1	1.35
Poland	1	1.35
South Africa	1	1.35
South Korea	1	1.35
Hong Kong	1	1.35
Switzerland	1	1.35
Greece	1	1.35
Algeria	1	1.35
Pakistan	1	1.35
Ethiopia	1	1.35

Note: "Multi-country" denotes multiple study sites in two or more countries, while "location not identified" denotes the unidentified study site or focus location for some of the studies.

Table 4 reveals that most of the documents reviewed have received funding (51.35 percent) while the rest has none (48.65 percent). Table 5 lists which regional groups have funding, with Western European and Others Group (WEOG) to be highest (22.97 percent). Reviewed documents from the Asia and the Pacific Group have limited funding (2.70 percent), similar to Eastern European Group (2.70 percent), African Group (1.35 percent) and Latin American and Caribbean Group (GRULAC) (1.35 percent). This suggests that not only the number of documents focusing on just transition in transport is more frequent and completed in developed countries, but the funding is also frequent and provided in these countries.

Table 4. Reviewed documents by funding

Availability of funding	Frequency	Percentage
No funding	36	48.65
With funding	38	51.35

Table 5. Regional groups by funding

	No funding		With funding	
	Frequency	%	Frequency	%
Western European and Others Group (WEOG)	14	18.92	17	22.97
Multi-country	6	8.11	10	13.51
Location not identified	5	6.76	5	6.76
Asia and the Pacific Group	6	8.11	2	2.70
Eastern European Group	1	1.35	2	2.70
African Group	3	4.05	1	1.35
Latin American and Caribbean Group (GRULAC)	1	1.35	1	1.35

Note: Regional grouping follow the United Nations' regional groups of its member states

Table 6 identifies that the most common modes of transportation in the reviewed documents are road transport (59.46 percent), followed by intermodal transport (36.49 percent) and maritime transport (4.05 percent). This reveals that documents primarily focus on road transport, creating a knowledge gap on specific contextualization of just transition in air and rail transport, as well as maritime transport. When it comes to regional groups (see Table 7), countries from WEOG have the highest documents that focuses on road transport (25.68 percent) and intermodal transport (16.22 percent). While countries from Asia and the Pacific Group, African Group, Eastern European Group, and GRULAC reported some documents that focus on just transition in road transport, there is a knowledge gap on specific contextualization of just transition in maritime, rail, air, and intermodal transport in these regions.

Table 6. Reviewed documents by transportation mode focus

Transportation modes ¹	Frequency	Percentage
Road transport	44	59.46
Intermodal	27	36.49
Maritime transport	3	4.05

-

¹ According to Rodrigue (2020, 151-195), "road transportation involves moving passengers and freight with vehicles over a prepared surface; rail transportation refers to the movement of vehicles on guideways; maritime transportation concerns the movement of passengers and freight over water masses, from oceans to rivers; air transportation is the movement of passengers and freight by any conveyance that can sustain controlled flight; and intermodal transportation concerns the movements of passengers or freight from an origin to a destination relying on several modes of transportation."

Table 7. Transportation mode focus by regional groups

	Road		Maritime		Intermodal	
	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	Frequency	%
WEOG	19	25.68	0	0	12	16.22
Multi-country	6	8.11	2	2.70	8	10.81
No location	4	5.41	1	1.35	5	6.76
Asia and the Pacific Group	8	10.81	0	0	0	0
African Group	3	4.05	0	0	1	1.35
Eastern European Group	2	2.70	0	0	1	1.35
GRULAC	2	2.70	0	0	0	0

Table 8 shows the focus of just transition thematic areas in the reviewed documents. Majority of the documents tackle cross-cutting themes of just transition (66.22 percent), followed by socio-technical transition (24.32 percent). While there is no document that focuses specifically only on labor and workforce dimension of just transition in transport, two studies in cross-cutting themes included a discussion of labor and how it relates to other themes such as policy, public participation, user involvement, and the expected diversity of the user roles (Sopjani et al. 2019; Herberg et al. 2020). This suggests that most documents focus on overarching themes of just transition not only about one theme or topic.

Table 8. Reviewed documents by just transition thematic area

Thematic area	Frequency	Percentage
Cross-cutting themes	49	66.22
Socio-technical	18	24.32
Public perception	4	5.41
Integrated framework for justice	2	2.70
Governance	1	1.35

The countries from WEOG have the highest documents that focus on cross-cutting themes of just transition in transport (22.97 percent) and socio-technical transition (12.16 percent) (see table 9). Documents with multi-country case studies also reported a high number of cross-cutting themes (17.57 percent), followed by countries in Asia and the Pacific (8.11 percent). This suggests that there is a need to plan and implement original research that will contextualize the approaches and experiences of just transition in African and Eastern European Group and GRULAC, and across all thematic areas.

Table 9. Just transition thematic areas by regional groups

	Justice			Socio- technical		Governance		Public perception		Cross- cutting	
	F	%	F	%	F	%	F	%	F	%	
WEOG	1	1.35	9	12.16	1	1.35	3	4.05	17	22.97	
Multi-country	0	0	3	4.05	0	0	0	0	13	17.57	
No location	0	0	4	5.41	0	0	1	1.35	5	6.76	
Asia and the Pacific Group	1	1.35	1	1.35	0	0	0	0	6	8.11	
African Group	0	0	1	1.35	0	0	0	0	3	4.05	
Eastern European Group	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	4.05	
GRULAC	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	2.70	

Note: F means frequency; % means percentage.

Documents with cross-cutting themes specifically focus on road transport (35.14 percent) and intermodal transport (28.38 percent) (see table 10). This is partly similar to documents with socio-technical transition themes who reported high in road transport (17.47 percent). This reveals the need to plan and implement research that will contextualize other thematic areas of just transition and other transportation modes.

Table 10. Just transition thematic areas by transportation modes

	Road		Maritime		Intermodal	
Just transition thematic area	Frequency	%	Frequency	%	Frequency	%
Justice	1	1.35	0	0	1	1.35
Socio-technical	13	17.57	1	1.35	4	5.41
Governance	1	1.35	0	0	0	0
Public perception	3	4.05	0	0	1	1.35
Cross-cutting	26	35.14	2	2.70	21	28.38

4.3 Expert Interview Findings

4.3.1 Definitions of just transition

Both participants share similar view on the definition of just transition, highlighting how it is about not leaving anyone behind in the transition from fossil fuel-dependent economies to low-carbon or decarbonized world.

"We have included the importance of inclusive, trust, and just transition; it is basically to not leave anyone behind as we move forward or as sector evolves due to climate change, different technology disruptions, and even due to different pandemics in the future" (Informant 1, July 2022).

The second informant echoed the same conceptualization and highlighted the importance of social dimension:

"From what I understood about this term (just transition), it focuses on the social dimension and making sure that when we transform the mobility systems in cities no one will be left behind, which includes workers in the transport sector. For instance, in the work we do in Africa, Asia, and Latin America, we need to consider the context as there are already issues of social imbalances and social segregation in these regions" (Informant 2, July 2022).

The second informant also added how just transition is framed within the concept of sustainable mobility:

"For my opinion, we frame just transition within the concept of sustainable mobility, which has two parts: sustainable and the mobility part. Sustainability includes dimensions like environmental, social, and economic, while sustainable mobility includes emission reductions and how to make transport cleaner, more efficient, and less environmentally harmful (Informant 2, July 2022).

4.3.2 Current engagements that relate to just transition in transport

The two informants shared current work engagements that relate to just transition, but they explained how such activities are not directly labeled as just transition.

"We do have an ongoing project, a relatively new project on the social inclusion of transport. But it is not framed within the narrative just transition; it is looking at the different user groups of transport and asking how we can improve the inclusivity of transport within the context of change and how we can make sure that we will achieve both sustainable and inclusive transportation at the same time" (Informant 1, July 2022).

The second informant shared their current engagement that relates to policy, and emphasizes the importance of public participation:

"Our work in sustainable urban mobility plans and national urban mobility policies fit the concept of just transition. These are comprehensive policy instruments that see the big picture of what is happening within the mobility system of certain places at the national and local level. The participation approaches are very important to the development of these policy instruments to bring all the people and their voices in the process" (Informant 2, July 2022).

4.3.3 Key themes to consider in integrating just transition framework in transport

Labor-oriented issues are identified to be a main area to consider in just transition in transport.

The first informant pointed out how countries are realizing their status quo and identifying the need to cater for both workers and users:

"Countries are starting to understand and have also realized that they do not have the tools, the policies, and the regular a framework in place. One of the most prominent examples that I can share is on electric mobility. When you are transitioning from this technology, it is not just always about people using these electric cars. We also talk about the users and the workers. Transport workers are not in a very good position when we start to look at the just transition. We already highlighted these issues; workers are not getting enough protection and they are not having enough policies, laws, or regulations to support and protect them" (Informant 1, July 2022).

The first informant also explained the importance of skills training, suggesting it is one of the challenges of some countries:

"We also thought about training existing workforce and re-skilling and upskilling the existing workforce. This is one of the reasons why the labor component of just transition is more prominent than many of the others, because it is a challenge that countries are facing right now" (Informant 1, July 2022).

Meanwhile, the second informant also discussed the role of labor and conceptualized it in the informal transport sector:

"I think the labor dimension is very important because there is a large number of people working in this informal transport sector, and without them participating in the transition this will not work. The informal transport will continue to emit a lot, and the labor conditions will not be improved for them" (Informant 2, July 2022).

Governance is also identified as key consideration in just transition alignment for transport:

"Governance is also key to just transition, especially for cities who do not have capacities. If there is no good governance arrangement, policy document that will be written and developed will be unused and will have no practical effect or impact. Part of the governance component is participation from people, their support, and knowing their needs and point-of-view and making sure that the solutions are tailored-fit in their circumstances and context" (Informant 2, July 2022).

While labor workforce and governance have been identified as main alignment focus for just transition in the transport sector, it is argued to consider all stakeholders and sectors in tackling and addressing such issue:

"I think mobility systems in cities are complex systems, and they are not simple entities because they have a lot of complicated and interlinked interactions among infrastructure, people, operators, government services, and users. There are also way more many stakeholders to bring into the equation, and the way they behave and operate and relate to each other, making it complex. So, I think if we are going to talk about the transition and transformation of such a complex system, we cannot have like simple definitions or simple terms, because at the end the problem is complex" (Informant 2, July 2022).

4.3.4 Challenges and gaps in the implementation of just transition

Some of the challenges and gaps identified by the first informant are the existing governance structure, policies, and regulatory framework:

"There are many challenges, but it is not something that the transport sector can solve alone. It is about changing the governance structure and to shift our current view of different policies or decision-making processes to something that is more compressive and more holistic. Existing policies also have not captured a lot of these issues which is why it is very hard for us to think about just transition when we do not have that existing regulatory framework in place" (Informant 1, July 2022).

The second informant, however, pointed out the challenges in inclusivity and fundamental definition of just transition:

"The concept of just transition is not very clear. It is difficult to work on something that we do not know or we are not familiar with or maybe try to tackle the problem that we do not even know that it exists. Inclusiveness in the process of transport planning is another challenge of just transition in transport. It is very difficult to bring all the people on board. It is complex system of users, operators, the government, and the infrastructure developers and all other stakeholders. But at the end because also resources are limited, and the time is also tight, making participation super difficult to actually make and comprehensive participative process. It also means that there will be some social groups behind whose needs and desires and expectations will not be met because there was not space for them to speak up and to express their opinion" (Informant 2, July 2022).

4.3.5 Significance of just transition in the transport sector

The first informant viewed just transition as collaborative process which opens important approach in tackling decarbonization process and mobility transformation at all levels and across different sectors:

"I think so at the end of the day, it is really about collaboration. It is about coordination, collaboration, and making sure there is horizontal integration and vertical coordination to ensure that the just transition movement is happening on all levels and across all sectors" (Informant 1, July 2022).

The second informant agreed on how just transition aims for holistic approach to tackle the decarbonization in the transport sector.

"On the significance of just transition, I will bring back the example of electrification. I think we will not solve the problem of emissions through electrification alone without considering other factors because you will keep having the same problems that are not related to the environmental issues in transport planning. You will still have traffic jams, unfair use of public space for the city, and rich people taking a lot of space to move around unlike other lower income groups that have to access public transport. I think it is important to bring all dimensions because we do not want only the outcome of reducing emissions, we really want the mobility system to be transformed. To pass from transport planning to mobility planning, it is not only about using active modes and reducing the dependence to fuels. It also includes seeing how we make things differently and reallocation of public spaces. I think without just transition we will just have a technological shift rather than actually a transformation of the mobility systems in the world" (Informant 2, July 2022).

4.4 Synthesis

This chapter confirms the existing discourse and state of knowledge of just transition in the transport sector using the collected documents from 2019 to 2021. There is also a significant increase of documents that capture just transition in transport from 2019 to 2021. In summary, a quarter of such documents reviewed are from developed countries, particularly United Kingdom, Sweden, Germany, and Norway, and more than half of the reviewed documents received a funding.

The most existing frames of just transition in transport are captured through cross-cutting themes and socio-technical transitions, highlighting how just transition interlinks with several areas, sectors, stakeholders, and socio-economic dimensions of society from labor, policies and regulatory frameworks, technologies, infrastructure, as well as cultural practices. Most of these documents tackle and address just transition in road and intermodal transport, which calls for further assessment and future research that will center on other modes of transportation, such as maritime, air and rail transport.

The additional section on interview with experts from the transport sector contributed to the discourse of just transition in the transport sector, particularly on its definition and conceptualization, existing engagements, priority areas in the implementation, and challenges and significance in the sector. While there is no overarching and universal definition of just transition for the transport sector, several activities exist which capture the principles of just transition.

As stated by the informants, labor and workforce dimension and governance are identified to be the major priority focus areas to be considered when transitioning to low-carbon or decarbonized economies. It is pointed out that the transport system is complex; thus, all other elements and thematic areas of just transition must be prioritized as well. Lastly, it was

described how just transition can be seen as collaborative process because it captures coordination and collaboration in different levels of society and across different sectors.

5. Conclusions

This research offers a systematic, comprehensive assessment of just transition frames in the transport sector. Most of the common frames of just transition in transport are categorized as cross-cutting and socio-technical themes, emphasizing the interconnections among labor, policies and regulatory frameworks, technologies, and infrastructure. While limited, other reviewed documents specifically capture labor, how just transition in transport relates to environmental justice, climate justice, and energy justice, governance, and public perceptions and attitudes. In most of the reviewed documents, just transition is discussed and addressed in relation to road and intermodal transport, which calls for additional assessment and future research that centers on other modes of transportation, such as, air, maritime, and rail.

This research contributes to the existing literature of just transition in transport and shaping the discourse on just transition definition and framework, on how it is contextualized across all modes of transportation, and on how it relates to the overarching paradigm of just transition, such as labor, justice, socio-technical, governance, public perception and attitude, and even its cross-cutting characteristic.

There is a need for clarification of definition and framework for just transition for the transport sector and even beyond. This research confirms the lack of an overarching definition of just transition in transport, but it emphasizes how works and mechanisms in the sector are already implemented projects that relate to fairness and inclusiveness. A clarification of definition, if not a creation of one, will be beneficial for the transport sector in categorizing the transition mechanism to decarbonized economies and seeing and assessing where it needs support and improvement.

There is a need for more comprehensive discourse on thematic areas of just transition.

This research confirms the cross-cutting themes and socio-technical transition as the most common frames of just transition in transport. Future research and project implementations that will tackle and address other dimensions of just transition in all modes of transportation (e.g., integrated framework of justice, governance, and public perceptions and attitudes), however, must be planned and completed to see how such thematic areas are contextualized in the sector. Such findings will guide understanding on how mechanisms of decarbonization affirm just, fair, and inclusive transition.

There is a need to contextualize just transition across all transportation modes. This research confirms how research on transport and its relation to just transition has been skewed to focus more on road and intermodal transport, leaving other modes of the sector, such air, maritime, and rail behind. This creates a gap as other workers, groups and stakeholders are linked to these other modes of transport. The transition to a low-carbon and decarbonized world is only possible if all modes of transport are represented. Research and project implementation and assessment are necessary to understand such complexities of all modes of transportation and how just transition and its key themes can affect them.

We are at the crossroads of transitioning from fossil fuel-dependent economies to decarbonized world and creating policies that promote and prioritize climate actions, resilience, and sustainability in transport and other sectors, while also ensuring that most vulnerable groups, sectors, and communities are not neglected and can still contribute to and benefit from ongoing and future transitions. While the momentum behind just transitions in the transport sector shows the concept resonates with some countries and non-state institutions, as well as in different modes of transportation, there must be a deliberate approach to apply lessons learned,

advance solutions, and act more to ensure the transition to a decarbonized world is not only sustainable, but also just, fair, and inclusive.

References

- Benford, Robert D, and David A Snow. 2000. "Framing Process and Social Movements: An Overview and Assessment." www.annualreviews.org.
- Cha, J. Mijin, and Manuel Pastor. 2022. "Just Transition: Framing, Organizing, and Power-Building for Decarbonization." Energy Research and Social Science 90 (August). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2022.102588.
- Chong, Dennis, and James N. Druckman. 2007. "Framing Theory." Annual Review of Political Science 10: 103–26. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.10.072805.103054.
- Climate Justice Alliance. 2016. "Just Transition: A Framework for Change." 2016. https://climatejusticealliance.org/just-transition/.
- Elsevier. 2014. "Scopus Quick Reference Guide." www.elsevier.com/scopus.
- ——. 2020. "Scopus: Content Coverage Guide." https://www.elsevier.com/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/69451/Scopus_ContentCoverage_Guide WEB.pdf.
- Feste, Karen. 2011. America Responds to Terrorism: Conflict Resolution Strategies of Clinton, Bush, and Obama. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Herberg, Jeremias, Tobias Haas, Daniel Oppold, and Dirk von Schneidemesser. 2020. "A Collaborative Transformation beyond Coal and Cars? Co-Creation and Corporatism in the German Energy and Mobility Transitions." Sustainability (Switzerland) 12 (8). https://doi.org/10.3390/SU12083278.
- Huang, Ping, and Ying Liu. 2021. "Toward Just Energy Transitions in Authoritarian Regimes: Indirect Participation and Adaptive Governance." Journal of Environmental Planning and Management 64 (1): 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2020.1743245.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2022. "Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change." https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.
- International Labour Organization (ILO). 2015. Guidelines for a Just Transition towards Environmentally Sustainable Economies and Societies for All. www.ilo.org/publns.
- McEvoy, Darryn, Hartmut Fünfgeld, and Karyn Bosomworth. 2013. "Resilience and Climate Change Adaptation: The Importance of Framing." Planning Practice and Research 28 (3): 280–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/02697459.2013.787710.
- Robins, Nick, Vonda Brunsting, and David Wood. 2018. "Climate Change and the Just Transition A Guide for Investor Action." www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/.
- Rodrigue, Jean-Paul. 2020. "The Geography of Transport Systems." https://transportgeography.org/.

- Sopjani, Liridona, Jenny Janhager Stier, Sofia Ritzén, Mia Hesselgren, and Peter Georén. 2019. "Involving Users and User Roles in the Transition to Sustainable Mobility Systems: The Case of Light Electric Vehicle Sharing in Sweden." Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment 71 (June): 207–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2018.12.011.
- Supran, Geoffrey, and Naomi Oreskes. 2021. "Rhetoric and Frame Analysis of ExxonMobil's Climate Change Communications." One Earth 4 (5): 696–719. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.04.014.

United Nations. 2015. "Paris Agreement."

- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). 2009. "Reordering and Consolidation of Text in the Revised Negotiating Text." https://unfccc.int/documents/5823#beg.
- United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD). 2018. "Mapping Just Transition(s) to a Low-Carbon World."
- Wang, Xinxin, and Kevin Lo. 2021. "Just Transition: A Conceptual Review." Energy Research and Social Science. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2021.102291.

Personal Communications

Informant 1. July 2022. "Online Interview with the Author."

Informant 2. July 2022. "Online Interview with the Author."